FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/2/2020 1:55 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HON. KELLI LINVILLE, Petitioner,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY #17-2-01693-1

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BURI FUNSTON MUMFORD & FURLONG, PLLC

By PHILIP J. BURI WSBA #17637 1601 F Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-1500

INTRODUCTION

This Petition asks whether a public employee deserves a retirement benefit that reflects her career compensation. Kelli Linville, Mayor of the City of Bellingham, began serving the public on September 1, 1976 as a speech pathologist for the Bellingham School District. She enrolled in the Teachers' Retirement System (TRS) Plan 1, and for the next 35 years contributed to the Plan, even while representing the 42nd District in the State House of Representatives.

In 2011, Ms. Linville stepped down from the Legislature and won election as Bellingham's mayor. She also became eligible to join the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS). When she applied, however, the Department of Retirement Systems denied her entrance, concluding she was eligible to retire under TRS and cannot become a "dual member" of a second system under RCW 41.54.010(4). But Mayor Linville never retired, and never applied for or received retirement benefits from TRS.

Mayor Linville filed this action under the Administrative Procedure Act, and on June 7, 2018, Whatcom Superior Court Judge Raquel Montoya-Lewis reversed the Department's denial. "As Linville has shown in the record below, the dual member statute

RCW 41.54.010(4) was enacted to modify the estoppel statute and address the public employee who, rather than retire and draw benefits, chooses to continue working in the public sector in another area." (6/7/18 Order Reversing Denial at 2; CP 289). The court directed the Department to enroll Mayor Linville in PERS.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals Division I reversed.

To many, the DRS order may seem harsh. Harsher still may appear our decision. But DRS was correct in its determination. Any ameliorative action must come from the legislature.

Linville v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., __ Wn. App. 2d __, 452 P.3d 1269, 1275 (2019). The Legislature adopted dual membership to ensure the retirement benefit from public service "reflect[s] the career compensation." (Bill Report SSB 5150; Administrative Record (AR) 111; CP 128) (emphasis added). Because the Court of Appeals improperly construed the retirement statutes to thwart this purpose, Mayor Linville now petitions for review.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Kelli Linville Respondent in the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Mayor Linville seeks review of the December 2, 2019 published decision from the Court of Appeals, Division I. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-12.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mayor Linville's Petition presents two issues for review:

- A. Under RCW 41.04.270, State workers with more than 15 years' service who (1) receive a retirement allowance, (2) are eligible to retire, or (3) are beneficiaries of a disability allowance cannot join a second retirement system. But under RCW 41.54.010(4)(c), State workers who have "never been retired for service" and are "not receiving a disability retirement or disability leave benefit" may join a second system as dual members. Did Appellant Department of Retirement Systems err by excluding one subset of those "eligible to retire" from dual membership?
- B. When construing an ambiguous statute, this Court "avoid[s] a literal reading if it would result in unlikely, absurd or strained consequences." Whatcom Cty. v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). The Department's interpretation, which the Court of Appeals adopted, creates unfair and unreasonable results contrary to the Legislature's express intent

to compensate retirees fairly. Did the Court of Appeals err by endorsing "harsh" consequences rather than following the Legislature's intent and purpose?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Evolution from Estoppel to Dual Membership

Until 1976, State workers could join any retirement system if they were eligible. But concerned that "a public employee has the ability to draw one public pension while working and earning credit toward a second pension", commonly called "double dipping", the Legislature in 1976 barred employees with more than 15 years' service credit from joining a second system. (AR 38; CP 55) (Bill Summary); RCW 41.04.270. The law estopped most senior public employees from contributing to more than one retirement system.

Because this had severe consequences for recruiting and retaining valuable employees, the Legislature in 1987 passed ESSB 5150, the Portability of Public Employment Retirement Benefits Act. 1987 Laws of Washington, Ch. 192. ("Portability Act"). The Portability Act made two substantial changes to State retirement laws. First, it amended RCW 41.04.270 to exempt "dual members" from the harsh effects of estoppel. Second, it created a new chapter in Title 41 establishing portability, which includes a statutory

definition of "dual member". RCW 41.54.010(4). A dual member is an employee who:

- is or becomes a member of a system on or after July 1, 1988;
- has been a member of one or more other systems, and
- has never been retired for service from a retirement system and is not receiving a disability retirement or disability leave benefit from any retirement system...

RCW 41.54.010(4). Note that the third bullet point in the definition does not disqualify employees "eligible to retire". Only those retired from service or receiving a disability payment are barred from dual membership.

B. <u>Mayor Linville's Service as a Public Employee</u>

Kelli Linville has been in public service for 43 years. On September 1, 1976, she began work as a speech pathologist for the Bellingham School District and enrolled as a member of the Teachers' Retirement System (TRS) Plan 1. (Stipulations of Fact; AR 83; CP 100). For the next 35 years, she contributed to the Teachers' system. But she was not solely a teacher during that period. In 1992, Ms. Linville won election to the State House of Representatives, representing the 42nd District. (AR 83; CP 100). She continued to contribute to TRS during her tenure as Representative.

Ms. Linville stepped down from the Legislature on January 10, 2011. (AR 84; CP 101) That is also the day of separation from TRS employment. Although she had just over 30 years' service credit, making her eligible to retire from TRS Plan 1, she did not retire, never applied for retirement benefits, and never drew retirement benefits or disability payments from a public retirement system. (AR 84; CP 101).

Instead, she ran for Mayor of the City of Bellingham and won. On January 1, 2012, Mayor Linville took office and has served continuously since then. As an elected public official, Mayor Linville can join the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS). When she applied, the Assistant Director for the Department of Retirement Systems denied her entrance under the estoppel statute. The Department would not consider her request to join as a dual member, summarily concluding she did not qualify. (AR 95; CP 112) ("regardless, this interpretation is how the Department applies this law"). Mayor Linville appealed to the Department's Petition Examiner, who affirmed the denial (AR 102; CP 119), and to the Department's Presiding Officer, who entered the Department's Final Order denying the application. (Final Order; AR 1; CP 18).

Having completed her administrative appeals, Mayor Linville sought review in superior court under the State's Administrative Procedure Act. On June 7, 2018, Whatcom County Superior Court Judge Raquel Montoya-Lewis overturned the Department's denial and allowed the Mayor to join PERS. Judge Montoya-Lewis concluded the dual member exception applied to employees like Mayor Linville.

Indeed, it appears the legislature created this dual enrollment status to address this very issue, so that workers who chose to work beyond their retirement eligibility would be rewarded for doing so under the Portability Act, by being able to choose to join a secondary retirement system, should doing so be of benefit.

(6/7/18 Order Reversing Denial at 2; CP 289).

The Department appealed, and on December 2, 2019, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, reinstating the Department's denial.

DRS did not act arbitrarily or capriciously but, rather, applied the statutes by which it is bound to the facts of Linville's application. The parties do not dispute that, without more, RCW 41.04.270(1)(b) estops Linville from attaining PERS membership due to her eligibility to receive a retirement allowance from another system. DRS considered whether Linville met the dual member exception and, relying on the plain language of the pertinent statute, properly concluded that she did not.

<u>Linville v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.</u>, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 452 P.3d 1269, 1275 (2019). This is the first, and apparently only, Washington decision defining the scope and purpose of the dual member exception.

Mayor Linville respectfully requests this Court to accept review of her case, reverse the Court of Appeals, and provide needed guidance on this issue of substantial public interest.

ARGUMENT

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review for three reasons. First, this case presents significant issues on the proper interpretation of State retirement statutes in general and the dual member exception in particular. Second, the Court of Appeal's rigid construction of the statutes contradicts this Court's direction that "statutes should be interpreted to further, not frustrate, their intended purpose." Carranza
V. Dovex Fruit Co., 190 Wn.2d 612, 625, 416 P.3d 1205 (2018).

Third, the Department's harsh treatment of employees like Mayor Linville conflicts with its lenience towards similarly situated State employees eligible for retirement. WAC 415-108-725 (distinguishing between "early" and "normal" retirement).

Under RAP 13.4, this case merits Supreme Court review.

A. <u>The Legislature Adopted The Portability Act For Public</u> Employees Like Mayor Linville.

The key to this case is the legislative purpose animating the Portability Act. As the Bill Report declared, without the Portability Act "a public service career may be completed with the retirement benefit received from the earlier system not reflecting the career compensation." (Bill Report SSB 5150; AR 111; CP 128) (emphasis added). That is exactly what happened here. The Department's flawed statutory interpretation deprives public employees like Mayor Linville of a full and fair retirement benefit.

The Department's error is in not recognizing the difference between RCW 41.04.270(1), the estoppel statute, and RCW 41.54.010(4)(c), the definition of dual membership. When the Legislature limited state workers with more than 15 years' credit from joining a second retirement system, it estopped three categories of employees:

any member or former member who (a) receives a retirement allowance earned by the former member as deferred compensation from any public retirement system authorized by the general laws of this state, or (b) is eligible to receive a retirement allowance from any public retirement system listed in RCW 41.50.030, but chooses not to apply, or (c) is the beneficiary of a disability allowance from any public retirement system listed in RCW 41.50.030.

RCW 41.04.270(1).

In contrast, the Legislature withholds dual membership – the exception to estoppel – from only two categories of employees, those "retired for service from a retirement system" and those "receiving a disability retirement or disability leave benefit from any retirement system." RCW 41.54.010(4)(c). The definition does not withhold dual membership from public employees like Mayor Linville who are merely "eligible to retire".

Mayor Linville has not retired for service from a retirement system or received a disability retirement or disability leave benefit. Yet, according to the Department, her decision in 1993 to remain in TRS, rather than join a second system, PERS, has proved costly.

After 30 years of service under TRS Plan 1, Mayor Linville's average financial compensation was \$3,503. (AR 3; CP 20) As Mayor of Bellingham, in 2016 she earned a monthly salary of \$11,858. (AR 3; CP 20). Since the Department calculates retirement benefits based on years with the highest earnings, Mayor Linville will have substantially higher retirement benefits if she can contribute to PERS at her Mayoral salary in addition to her contributions to TRS as a teacher and legislator. The estoppel statute punishes

experienced workers who, although eligible to retire, want to continue serving the public in a different capacity.

In 1987 and 1988, the Legislature addressed this penalty to experienced employees by creating an exception to estoppel: dual membership. RCW 41.54.010(4). And Mayor Linville satisfies the three elements for the exception. First, as Mayor, she is eligible to become a member of PERS. (Final Order at 4; AR 4; CP 21) ("Chapter 41.40 RCW authorizes membership in PERS for elected ('elective') officials"). Second, she has been a member of TRS Plan 1. (Final Order ¶ 15; AR 3; CP 20). Third, she has never been retired for service from a retirement system and is not receiving a disability retirement or leave benefit. (Final Order ¶ 16; AR 3; CP 20) ("Ms. Linville has not applied for retirement from TRS Plan I, or retired from TRS").

The Legislature purposely excluded "eligible to retire" from the list of employees who can never become dual members. Why? Because those eligible to retire are not receiving benefits and are not double dipping. Receiving retirement benefits, not bare eligibility, is the disqualifying condition.

To be eligible for the portability benefit the person must be a dual member (hold membership in two or more retirement systems) on or after July 1, 1988, and not retire based on service from any prior system.

(SSB 5150 Bill Report; AR 124; CP 141) (emphasis added). The Legislature sought to reward valuable public employees like Mayor Linville who continue to work and contribute to the public even though they could retire. Allowing these employees to join a second system makes their service portable and ensures their retirement benefits reflect their career compensation.

Further proof of the Legislature's intent is in the 1988 amendment to the estoppel statute. When it created dual membership in 1987, the Legislature amended RCW 41.04.270(2) to provide that estoppel did not apply to "a dual member as defined in section 1 of this 1987 act." 1987 Laws of Washington, Ch. 192 § 9. This arguably made dual membership open to those who had received benefits, as well as those eligible to retire. In 1988, the Legislature amended RCW 41.04.270(2) a second time to limit the dual membership exception only to those eligible to retire. "Subsection 1(b) of this section [estopping workers eligible to retire] does not apply to a dual member as defined in RCW 41.54.010." 1988 Laws of Washington, Ch. 195 § 5. The Legislature singled out "eligible to retire" as the only estopped category eligible to become

dual members. The Department's refusal to recognize this is a clear misreading of the statute and its legislative purpose.

B. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Frustrates This</u> Legislative Purpose

The Court of Appeals adopted the Department's position, concluding that estoppel applies to those employees who stay with one retirement system, become eligible to retire, and then seek to join a second system. At the heart of its decision, the court identified a glitch in the dual membership statute.

Linville seeks to use her current membership in TRS to satisfy RCW 41.54.01 0(4)(b) and then meet subsection (4)(a)'s requirement by becoming a member of PERS-thereby avoiding estoppel of membership in a second retirement system by becoming a member of a second retirement system. This interpretation was adopted by the superior court, essentially replacing **RCW** 41.54.010(4)(a)'s requirement that a dual member "is or becomes a member" of a new system with the words "is, becomes, or applies to become a member." But we do not see any evidence in the plain language of the statute that the legislature intended this to be the case. Without a rewriting of the statute, the result favored by the superior court cannot be obtained.

Linville, 452 P.3d at 1273 (emphasis added).

Dual membership is an exception to estoppel. Yet, according to the Court of Appeals, an employee must become a dual member before estoppel applies to then qualify for the exception to estoppel.

Mayor Linville cannot join PERS, although eligible, because estoppel prevents her from qualifying for the very exception to estoppel. The court correctly identifies this outcome as "harsh", but concludes its hands are tied. "Any ameliorative action must come from the legislature." <u>Linville</u>, 452 P.3d at 1275.

This Court has the authority to effectuate the Legislature's purpose in creating dual membership. The word "becomes" in RCW 41.54.010(4)(a) means eligible to join, otherwise, the dual membership exception reintroduces the full estoppel provisions, eliminating the exception. Assuming that RCW 41.54.010(4)(a) could have been stated more clearly, this Court may resolve this ambiguity in favor of career public servants – as the Legislature intended.

This court has the ultimate authority to determine the meaning and purpose of a statute. Our paramount duty in statutory interpretation is to give effect to the Legislature's intent. We avoid a literal reading of a statute if it would result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. "The spirit or purpose of an enactment should prevail over the express but inept wording." State v. Day, 96 Wn.2d 646, 648, 638 P.2d 546 (1981).

<u>State v. Elgin</u>, 118 Wn.2d 551, 555, 825 P.2d 314 (1992) (citations omitted).

As noted above, legislative history supports the opposite of the Court of Appeal's decision. Nowhere did the Legislature express intent to withhold dual membership from employees who are merely eligible to retire. The Court of Appeals erred by construing the retirement statutes narrowly, to the detriment of the workers entitled to benefit.

C. <u>The Department's Statutory Construction Creates</u> <u>Unlikely, Unreasonable and Strained Consequences.</u>

The Department's argument begins with a straightforward premise: no one eligible to retire may join a different retirement system. That is double dipping. An employee must become a dual member before becoming eligible to retire.

This premise breaks down quickly under close scrutiny. First, according to the Department, once employees become dual members, they may join an unlimited number of new retirement systems *regardless* of their eligibility to retire. Estoppel applies only to those employees who stick with one system throughout their career.

The Department's argument creates two classes of long-term state employees: those who joined a second system before becoming eligible to retire, and those who did not. For those who

did, under the Department's reading, dual membership permits them to join multiple retirement systems, regardless of their eligibility to retire. Only an employee who stays with one system until eligible to retire loses the ability to become a dual member.

The Department has created a false choice and an arbitrary distinction. Given the Legislature's intent to ensure retirement benefits reflect *career compensation*, it makes no sense to exclude one class of long-term employees while rewarding all others. Yet the Department conceded in the Court of Appeals that its interpretation does just that: "the dual member exception also allows certain dual members to join a third retirement system, who were otherwise prevented under the estoppel statute." (Opening Brief at 15 n.6). Two workers with identical service credits would have dramatically different retirement benefits. The Department punishes those workers who stay with one retirement system during their career.

The Department never advised State workers about this "choice". When she decided to stay with TRS, Mayor Linville had no warning, or reason to think she would lose her ability to join a second system later in her career. The Department's statutory argument creates this arbitrary and unfair result.

Second, the Department does not disqualify all "eligible-to-retire" employees from joining a second system. A recent amendment to WAC 415-108-725, effective April 28, 2018, creates another class of employees who can become dual members. Because the State now allows employees to take early retirement with less than full benefits, the Department prohibits dual membership for only those employees taking "normal retirement".

According to the Department,

the retirement statutes prohibit membership in one retirement plan after becoming eligible to retire from another plan, to prevent members from receiving a pension while also collecting wages for public employment. When that provision was enacted, early retirement with a reduced benefit was not available. However, a member may now be eligible for an early retirement benefit that would be reduced to a small fraction of its value at full retirement age. This rule allows a member to defer retirement from the first plan, while earning benefits in another plan related to subsequent public employment.

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