FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/3/2020 3:32 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98047-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HON. KELLI LINVILLE,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS, STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Evelyn Fielding Lopez, WSBA No. 18900 Nam Nguyen, WSBA No. 47402 Assistant Attorneys General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 753-5515

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

RCW 41.04.270, the estoppel statute, provides in pertinent part:

[A]ny member or former member who (a) receives a retirement allowance earned by the former member as deferred compensation from any public retirement system authorized by the general laws of this state, or (b) is eligible to receive a retirement allowance from any public retirement system listed in RCW 41.50.030, but chooses not to apply, ... shall be estopped from becoming a member of or accruing any contractual rights whatsoever in any other public retirement system listed in RCW 41.50.030.

(Emphasis added.) From the plain language of the statute, since Ms.

Linville was eligible to receive a retirement allowance in TRS but had chosen not to apply, she was estopped from becoming a member of any other public retirement system.

There are two exceptions to this estoppel. First, if the member has accumulated less than fifteen years of service credit in the first retirement system, then that person will not be estopped from joining another retirement system. Second, if the member is a dual member as defined in RCW 41.54.010, then the prohibition will also not apply.

Neither of these exceptions apply to Ms. Linville. She was estopped from joining PERS because she was eligible to retire in TRS but had chosen not to apply. She argues that she meets the other exception to the estoppel statute as a dual member under RCW 41.54.010. If she is correct, then the estoppel statute would not apply to her. However, under the plain language of the dual member definition, Ms. Linville does not qualify.

RCW 41.54.010 defines "dual member" as "a person who (a) is or becomes a member of a system on or after July 1, 1988, (b) has been a member of one or more other systems, and (c) has never been retired for service from a retirement system and is not receiving a disability retirement or disability leave benefit from any retirement system listed in RCW 41.50.030 or subsection (6) of this section." (Emphasis added.) In order to be a dual member, the person must be able to gain membership in a second retirement system. Ms. Linville had membership in TRS, but she

was not able to gain membership in PERS because of the estoppel statute. She is not a dual member.

The plain language of the statutes is clear. A person does not apply to become a dual member. A person becomes a dual member if the person applies to become a member of a second retirement system, meets the eligibility requirements of the second system, and is enrolled in the second system. Then that person meets the definition of "dual member" and will have their retirement benefits calculated as a dual member. Admission to a second retirement system is what creates dual membership. Since Ms. Linville was estopped from joining a second retirement system based on her eligibility to retire from TRS, she could not become a dual member.

B. The Estoppel Statute and the Dual Member Statute Operate in Ms. Linville's Case Exactly as the Legislature Intended

In seeking this Court's review, Ms. Linville argues that the Court of Appeals has interpreted the estoppel and dual member statutes in a way that frustrates their intended purpose. That is not correct and is not a basis for review. Under RAP 13.4, the Court will only grant review if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision, conflicts with a published Court of Appeals decision, involves a significant question of constitutional law, or raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Ms. Linville claims that a conflict exists because this Court has directed that "statutes should be interpreted to further, not frustrate their intended purpose," citing to *Carranza v. Dovex Fruit Co.*, 190 Wn.2d 612, 625, 416 P.3d 1205 (2018). Nothing in the *Linville* Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this statement. Moreover, the *Carranza* case does not stand for the proposition that a Court will disregard the plain language of a statute to further a purpose that conflicts with the statute's plain language.

In *Carranza*, the Court applied the well-established principles of statutory construction, giving meaning to the plain language of the statute: "As always in cases of statutory interpretation, we look first to the plain language of the statute to discern the legislature's intent." *Carranza*, 190 Wn.2d at 619 (citing *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)). The Court buttressed its plain language analysis by noting that its conclusion was consistent with the statute's intended purpose as remedial legislation. *Id.* at 625. In that case, the Court was reviewing whether certain payments for agricultural workers met the requirements of the state's Minimum Wage Act (MWA). In noting that "'[s]tatutes should be interpreted to further, not frustrate, their intended purpose," and that "remedial legislation like the MWA 'is given a liberal construction' in accordance with the legislature's intent of protecting

employees," the Court was not creating a new rule of statutory construction that ignores the statute's plain language. Instead, it was acknowledging that "[1]iberally construing the MWA favors interpreting its minimum wage mandate as providing employees with a right to hourly compensation for hourly work." *Carranza*, 416 P.3d at 1213 (citations omitted). The *Carranza* case is not a case about ignoring the plain language of a statute, and it certainly does not instruct courts to ignore or add parts of statutes to achieve a preferred interpretation.

Fundamentally, as the Court of Appeals in *Linville* explained, if a statute is plain on its face, the Court gives effect to that meaning as an expression of legislative intent. Furthermore, the Court will construe a statute "so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *Linville*, 452 P.3d at 1272 (quoting *City of Seattle v. Swanson*, 193 Wn. App. 795, 810, 373 P.3d 342 (2016)). As the plain language of the dual member statute shows, it is not a way to gain admission to a second retirement system. Instead, it is a description of a type of retirement calculation process to be used when a person has membership in more than one public retirement system. The Court of Appeals application of the plain language is consistent with this Court's direction in *Carranza*.

Although the plain language of the statutes is clear, Ms. Linville's mischaracterizes the Legislature's efforts to increase portability of retirement benefits. The Court only addresses the legislative history behind a statute if the plain meaning is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. *State v. Gray*, 174 Wn.2d 920, 927, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012). Here as set forth above, the language is plain. Ms. Linville is not a dual member and thus cannot qualify for an exception to the estoppel statute.

Even if it were appropriate to consider the legislative history, nothing in that legislative history supports the conclusion that the Legislature intended for employees like Ms. Linville to join a second retirement system after qualifying for normal retirement in one system. The dual member option was developed after pension system changes in 1977 that transformed the largest retirement systems (PERS, TRS, and Law Enforcement Officers and Fire Fighters) from Plan 1 with full retirement benefits based on years of service credit, to Plan 2 with age thresholds for full retirement benefits. After the 1977 changes, members in Plan 2 did not have a cap on the service credit that could be earned, and eligibility for full retirement was postponed to a later age. As a result, in those systems, there was an incentive to continue working, and there were

more issues of portability of benefits and a need for combined retirement benefits.

In 1987, the Legislature took up the issue of retirement system members who had service credit in more than one retirement system. Substitute S.B. 5150, which created RCW 41.54.010, developed the concept of a dual member:

Legislation has been enacted providing for transfer of service from one state retirement system to another <u>under limited criteria</u>. Other than through such legislation, a public service career may be completed with the retirement benefit received from the earlier system not reflecting the career compensation.

To be eligible for the portability benefit the person must be a dual member (hold membership in two or more retirement systems) on or after July 1, 1988, and not [sic] retired based on service from any prior system.

The provisions on estoppel of membership when retired are amended to exclude dual members.

Final Legislative Report, 50th Leg., Reg. & Spec. Sess., at 206-07 (Wash. 1987) (emphasis added).

The Legislature specifically reviewed the estoppel statute, and amended it so that dual members who qualified for retirement, but had not yet retired, would not be estopped. At that time, the Legislature certainly could have amended RCW 41.04.270 to remove the provision that estopped members of a single retirement system who were eligible to

receive a retirement allowance, but had chosen not to apply, but it did not do so. Instead, the Legislature very narrowly amended the estoppel statute to note that the "qualified, but not yet retired" provision would not apply to a dual member. RCW 41.04.270(2). We must presume that the Legislature intended to keep the estoppel provision that applies to members who are qualified to retire from a public retirement system, but who have chosen not to do so, such as Ms. Linville. The Legislature is presumed to have "full knowledge of existing statutes affecting the matter on which they are legislating." *State v. Conte*, 159 Wn.2d 797, 808, 154 P.3d 194 (2007). That is even more true when they specifically amend a statute to change one provision and leave the remainder intact.

The estoppel statute and the dual member statute were intended to address separate retirement system issues. The statutes work together, as the Legislature anticipated, to prohibit members from joining a second retirement system when they already qualify for a full retirement benefit, and to allow for full service credit and salary credit when individuals are members of more than one retirement system.

Interpreting the dual member statute as Ms. Linville argues would require rewriting the plain language of the statute. Ms. Linville seems to interpret RCW 41.54.010 to allow any member to become a dual member by applying to a second retirement system (ignoring the estoppel

provisions of RCW 41.04.270 completely). But the dual member statute is clearly a definition of a type of retirement system member—someone that has been a member of one or more systems and then becomes a member of another system after 1988. As the Court of Appeals noted: "But we do not see any evidence in the plain language of the statute that the legislature intended this to be the case. Without a rewriting of the statute, the result favored by the superior court cannot be obtained." *Linville*, 452 P.3d at 1273.

C. The Court of Appeals Determined the Department's Interpretation of the Pertinent Retirement Statutes to be Reasonable

Ms. Linville argues that the Court of Appeals interpretation of the estoppel statute and the dual member statute create unlikely, unreasonable, and strained consequences. They do not, and that is not a basis for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4.

To the contrary, Ms. Linville's interpretation of the statutes would render RCW 41.04.270(1)(b) useless. If a member of a retirement system wants to join another retirement system, even if estopped under subsection (1)(b), that member simply has to apply for dual membership. And because dual membership, under her statutory construction, is determined by first enrolling a member into a second retirement system, all members wishing to join a second retirement system are dual members. In other

words, under her statutory construction, there is no scenario where a member of a retirement system is estopped from joining another retirement system because that member is eligible to receive a retirement allowance.

The Department's interpretation of the statutes, adopted by the Court of Appeals, harmonizes the provisions of the estoppel statute and the dual member statute. The two statutes work together: the first sets limits on admission to retirement systems when the applicant has already retired, or is eligible to retire, and the second establishes an option for members of more than one retirement system to have their service calculated together. As this Court has explained, "[s]tatutes are to be read together, whenever possible, to achieve a 'harmonious total statutory scheme ... which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." "Am. Legion Post No. 149 v. Dep't of Health, 164 Wn.2d 570, 192 P.3d 306 (2008), (quoting State ex rel. Peninsula Neighborhood Ass'n v. Dep't of Transp., 142 Wn.2d 328, 342, 12 P.3d 134 (2000)).

Ms. Linville asserts that there are two classes of long-term state employees if the estoppel statute is employed: those who joined a second retirement system before they were eligible to retire, and those who did not. This is correct. The Legislature determined that those members who were eligible to retire in one retirement system should not be admitted to a

second system. In contrast, if the member was not yet eligible for retirement, then that person could join a second retirement system and would be considered a dual member. This was, in fact, Ms. Linville's situation. Had she opted to join PERS when she became a member of the Legislature, she would have been a dual member and her employment as Mayor would have been used to calculate a dual member retirement benefit. She did not do so. Once she became eligible for retirement under TRS, she no longer had that option.

Ms. Linville further complains that those retirement system members who could take an early retirement are not estopped from joining a second retirement system because the estoppel statute applies only to those who have taken or are eligible for a full or normal retirement. Again, the plain language of the estoppel statute provides that if a member receives a retirement allowance, or is eligible to receive a retirement allowance, but chooses not to apply, that person is estopped from joining a second retirement system or accruing any contractual rights whatsoever in any other public retirement system.

The Department is responsible for making administrative rules to interpret the Legislature's retirement statutes. RCW 41.50.050. In PERS, there is "normal" retirement and "early" retirement. RCW 41.40.630. New early retirement options were enacted in 2007 for members of PERS and

TRS Plans 2 and 3 to compensate for an investment earnings gain sharing provision that was taken away. *See e.g.* RCW 41.40.630(3)(b) and Laws of 2007, ch. 247, § 901. When a member takes an early retirement, the member gives up a portion of the retirement benefit. Because early retirement did not exist when the Legislature enacted the estoppel statute in 1976, the Department has interpreted estoppel, under RCW 41.04.270, to apply only to normal retirement.

Essentially, Ms. Linville is arguing that the estoppel statute, in her particular circumstances works a significant hardship. It is true that if she could join PERS and have her compensation as the Mayor of Bellingham added to her retirement calculation, that would increase her retirement benefits beyond what they will be based upon her TRS service alone. But the Department and Court of Appeals properly applied the plain language of the retirement statutes, and the statutes require that she be precluded from PERS membership because she qualified for TRS retirement. This Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

Ms. Linville was estopped from joining PERS under RCW 41.04.270 because she was already eligible for retirement under TRS and had not become a dual member pursuant to RCW 41.54.010. The Court of Appeals issued a logical, detailed decision applying the statutes' plain

language. There is no conflict or issue of substantial public importance, and thus this Court should deny review